1955

Walter W. Sprague and United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company v. Boyles Bros. Drilling Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The judgment appealed from was entered at the conclusion of a non-jury trial of an action involving charges and countercharges of breaches of a subcontract providing for the production of rock to be used by respondent Sprague in the performance of his contract with the United States wherein he undertook to construct a levee on the banks of the Snake River in the vicinity of Rigby, Idaho (R. 1-18, R. 26-30).

The subcontract provided for the production of the rock by the joint efforts of appellant and Sprague. Appellant undertook to break into size 50 to 350 pounds a minimum of 12,200 tons of native rock located in the Olsen Quarry. The rock was to be broken in time to enable Sprague to deliver it to the levee within the time limit of his contract with the Government. Sprague agreed to furnish sufficient compressed air to operate appellant's drills efficiently, and to remove the rock from the quarry as it was broken into the sizes specified "so as not to cause delay." Sprague promised to pay appellant for breaking the rock at the rate of forty-eight cents per ton, and to make a progress payment of seventy-five percent of the contract price on or before April 20, 1950. In the event more than 12,200 tons of rock were required for the levee which Sprague had agreed to construct, appellant promised to break the excess provided it was requested to do so before it had broken the required minimum of rock. If the breaking of the 12,200 tons of rock into the sizes specified resulted in the production of other usable or salable rock, Sprague agreed to pay for it at the rate of forty-eight cents per ton at the time of sale or use. The subcontract further provided that if appellant should be unable to furnish adequate labor, equipment or material to complete the subcontract within the time specified, Sprague could in the name of appellant "put on such additional force and outfit as may be required" at the expense of appellant (R. 8-10).

The complaint alleges in the first count that defendant only partially performed its obligations under the sub-

contract; that Sprague paid \$8,087.08 for labor, material, supplies, equipment, rental and services to complete the performance of appellant's obligations under the subcontract; that he paid appellant \$4,392.00 and that there was a balance of \$5,085.16 due him. He claimed that he "was entitled to receive" from the defendant because of its failure to complete its obligations under the subcontract "the sum of \$2,500.00 for additional loading and hauling costs." Sprague alleged also that he was penalized \$1,050.00 for his failure to perform his prime contract within the time therein specified and attributed his default under the prime contract to defendant's alleged failure to perform the subcontract (R. 1-3).

A second cause of action in the complaint asserted that the plaintiff United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company had furnished Sprague the payment and performance bonds required by his prime contract. It reiterated the charges of failure on the part of appellant to complete the subcontract, the expenditures made to complete appellant's obligations, the penalty imposed upon Sprague, and the "additional loading and hauling costs." Contrary to the first count, the second count stated that the progress payment made to appellant, the payment of the additional loading and hauling costs, the expenditures to complete the subcontract and the payment of the penalty against Sprague were all made by the United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company. It claimed the right to be subrogated to all claims which Sprague had against defendant under the subcontract (R. 3-7).

The answer and counterclaim of defendant conceded that defendant had not broken the minimum quantity of rock specified in the subcontract. As justification for its failure in that regard, it asserted that Sprague failed and neglected to furnish compressed air for the operation of its drills, failed and neglected to move the rock from the quarry as it was broken into the sizes specified, and also failed and neglected to make the progress payment within the time required by the subcontract, or at all. It also asserted that it learned that Sprague was insolvent and financially unable to perform his part of the subcontract.

The answer and counterclaim further alleged that following the foregoing defaults on the part of Sprague, defendant removed its equipment and employees from the quarry, that thereupon the plaintiff United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company prevailed upon the defendant to resume the performance of the subcontract, and assured the defendant that if it would do so, United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company would make the progress payment which Sprague had failed to make and would comply with all of the provisions of the subcontract to be performed by Sprague; that in reliance upon such assurance, the defendant returned its equipment and employees to the quarry, and resumed performance of the subcontract. Defendant admitted that the United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company made the progress payment as promised, but alleged that it failed to furnish compressed air for the operation of defendant's drills, except for a short period of time. Defendant also alleged that because of the failure of the United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company to furnish

the compressed air as promised, defendant again stopped performance under the subcontract and again removed its men and equipment from the quarry (R. 11-16).

Although the trial court made and entered what are designated as Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, there was no determination made of the controlling issues above set forth (R. 26-29). That court did conclude that Sprague "performed his part of the contract," and that appellant "breached the contract." It also concluded that Sprague suffered damages "for increased cost of loading and hauling rock" and in certain stated sums for rock purchased, and because of expenditures made "in performing those things required by the subcontract to be performed" by the defendant (R. 26-30). Upon these conclusions the court entered judgment in favor of both plaintiffs in the amount of \$12,187.27, plus interest and costs, and dismissed the defendant's counterclaim (R. 30).

Defendant commenced operations in the quarry a few days before Christmas of 1949 (R. 287).

The primary breaking of the rock was done by the use of explosives (R. 85). A tunnel referred to in the record as a coyote hole was driven into the wall of the quarry a distance of seventy-five feet (R. 288). At the end of the tunnel two wings were drilled outward thirty feet on each side of the tunnel, and an enlarged pocket was made at the tip of each wing (R. 288).

The tunnel work was done by the use of a piece of equipment designated as a leyner (R. 288). The drills are mounted on the leyner and operated by compressed air (R.

288). Sprague furnished a Schramm 315 air compressor which was brought to the quarry on the evening of December 20, for defendant's use in running the leyner (R. 288). The compressor was in poor mechanical condition, and several hours were spent by the employees of both Sprague and defendant in getting the compressor started (R. 289). After finally getting it in operation, constant difficulty was encountered getting it started at the beginning of the day (R. 290-4). It failed completely on several occasions and had to be taken from the quarry for repairs (R. 334). One of defendant's employees stated that defendant lost fourteen shifts of work because of the mechanical failures of the compressor (R. 213-14) (Ex. 40) (R. 337). As a result of these delays, the tunnel was not completed until February 3 (R. 86). On that day a large amount of dynamite was placed in the enlarged pockets on the wings of the tunnel and exploded (R. 86). Several thousand tons of rock were broken by the blast and fell to the floor of the quarry (Ex. 25) (R. 293). A large amount of the broken rock was over-size and required secondary breaking to make it conform to the subcontract (R. 316). The secondary breaking was done by either drilling a hole in which dynamite was inserted, or by plastering the dynamite on the outside of the rock (R. 359). Defendant promptly proceeded with the secondary breaking, and by the latter part of February, all visible rock in the quarry was broken into the sizes specified in the subcontract (R. 327).

Sprague made no attempt to remove any of the contract size rock from the quarry, and defendant's employees were withdrawn from the quarry (R. 340, R. 116). In the latter

part of April, defendant was informed that Sprague would immediately commence removal of the rock. An employee was dispatched to the quarry to resume work as soon as the broken rock was removed (R. 342). This employee remained at the quarry for a week or ten days, and since Sprague had made no attempt to remove any rock, the employee left the quarry and removed defendant's equipment (R. 343).

In July, plaintiff, United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company, learned that Sprague had incurred obligations in excess of \$30,000.00 which he was unable to pay (R. 207-14). Among these bills owing was the progress payment due the defendant (R. 242-43). The surety made the progress payment to defendant, and prevailed upon it to resume the work of breaking the rock (R. 97) (Ex. 28). Sprague or his surety moved a few tons of the contract size rock from the quarry in May and on August 1st resumed hauling of the rock to the levee. On August 3rd defendant returned its men and equipment to the quarry and resumed operations (R. 363). Defendant was supplied with a small compressor to operate its drills for secondary breaking (R. 364). Soon after defendant resumed operations in the quarry it became necessary to break additional native rock (R. 365). A large compressor was required to drill the deeper holes needed for the primary breaking (R. 367-7). This was furnished on August 16 (R. 365). On September 21, the bearings in the large compressor burned out, and it was removed from the quarry (R. 366). It evidently was beyond repair, because it was never returned to the quarry (R. 411). The compressor which remained in the

quarry was a small one and would operate only one drill for secondary breaking (R. 366). The plaintiffs endeavored to obtain another compressor, but were unable to do so (R. 412-3). Defendant's equipment and employees remained at the quarry from September 21 until October 5, during which time they were unable to do any work in the quarry because of the lack of a compressor (R. 372). On October 5, defendant withdrew its employees and equipment from the quarry, and did not thereafter resume performance of the subcontract (R. 387-8).

The trial court found that the defendant broke into sizes specified in the subcontract a total of 9,799 tons (R. 27). Sprague admitted that he sold 1,000 tons of the rock broken by defendant, and that this rock was not used on the levee (R. 251). This was over-size rock (R. 251). Sprague's contract with the Government as amended subsequent to the subcontract required 15,400 tons of rock of the sizes specified in the subcontract (R. 27).

After defendant left the quarry on October 5, plaintiffs proceeded to produce the additional rock required to complete the prime contract (R. 119).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE JUDGMENT APPEALED FROM IS ERRONEOUS BECAUSE IT IS CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE WHICH ESTABLISHES THAT THE ONLY BREACH OF THE SUBCONTRACT WAS THAT COMMITTED BY PLAINTIFFS.

POINT II

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT DEFENDANT DID NOT BREAK THE ROCK INTO CONTRACT SIZE IN A WORKMANLIKE MANNER.

POINT III

THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE THAT THE COST TO PLAINTIFF OF PRODUCING THE ADDITIONAL ROCK EXCEEDED WHAT HE AGREED TO PAY DEFENDANT.

POINT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN AWARDING THE PLAINTIFFS ANY AMOUNT ON ACCOUNT OF LOADING OR HAULING COSTS.

POINT V

THE COURT ERRED IN AWARDING PLAINTIFFS \$850.00 ON ACCOUNT OF SPRAGUE'S FAILURE TO COMPLETE HIS PRIME CONTRACT.

POINT VI

UNITED STATES FIDELITY & GUARANTY COMPANY IS LIABLE TO DEFENDANT FOR FAILURE TO FURNISH COMPRESSED AIR BECAUSE IT ASSUMED THE OBLIGATIONS OF SPRAGUE UNDER THE SUBCONTRACT.

POINT VII

THE COURT ERRED IN AWARDING PLAINTIFFS \$292.80 FOR ROCK PURCHASED.

POINT VIII

THE JUDGMENT IS ERRONEOUS BECAUSE IT IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE FINDINGS OF FACT.

POINT IX

THE JUDGMENT MUST BE VACATED BECAUSE OF THE FAILURE OF THE COURT TO FIND ON THE MATERIAL ISSUES RAISED BY THE PLEADINGS.

POINT X

THE PRESENT ACTION SHOULD HAVE BEEN ABATED BECAUSE OF THE PENDENCY OF ANOTHER SUIT.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JUDGMENT APPEALED FROM IS ERRONEOUS BECAUSE IT IS CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE WHICH ESTABLISHES THAT THE ONLY BREACH OF THE SUB-CONTRACT WAS THAT COMMITTED BY PLAINTIFFS.

The failure of plaintiffs to furnish defendant with sufficient compressed air to operate its drills efficiently,

and to remove the rock from the quarry as it was broken into contract size is established by evidence which is without any conflict whatever. Their failure to make the progress payment as provided by the subcontract until more than three months after it was due is admitted by them. It is likewise conceded by plaintiffs that at least as of July, Sprague was financially unable to proceed under either his subcontract or his prime contract, and that the surety upon his payment and performance bonds was compelled to pay out in excess of \$30,000.00 on account of labor and material furnished him. We shall elaborate on these breaches of the subcontract in the order above indicated.

It will be noted that the subcontract is dated more than a month after defendant commenced work in the quarry. Whether it was executed prior to its date does not appear in the evidence, but it is clear that its terms were agreed upon before the defendant started operations. Sprague recognized his obligation to furnish sufficient compressed air to operate defendant's drills efficiently by procuring a Schramm 315 compressor, which he delivered to the quarry on December 20. His breach of this obligation occurred immediately upon delivery of the compressor to the quarry, and continued throughout the time defendant was engaged in drilling the coyote hole. It required the combined efforts of two of Sprague's employees and at least one of defendant's employees for a period of several hours to get the compressor started initially. Practically every morning thereafter defendant's employees encountered more or less difficulty starting it (R. 336). Although adequate

in size, it was in very poor mechanical condition (R. 333). The release valves would not disengage, which caused the motor to stop. Two days after it arrived at the quarry, it was sent to Idaho Falls for repairs (R. 334). About two weeks later, the clutch went out and it was again sent to Idaho Falls after a mechanic sent to the quarry was unable to repair it (R. 330). During the period the compressor was used to operate the leyner, the defendant was required to pay its employees for fourteen shifts of standby time due to the failure of the compressor (See plaintiff's Exhibit 40). A shift consisted of two workmen and a day and a night shift were employed (R. 335).

At no time did Sprague or any of his employees operate or assist in the operation of the compressor except to get it started initially (R. 334). Defendant's employees alone operated the compressor. They were skilled in the operation of various types of air compressors.

Following the completion of the coyote hole, the Schramm compressor was removed from the quarry (R. 338).

For defendants use in the secondary breaking of rock, Sprague furnished a 105 Leroi compressor which would produce only seventy or eighty pounds of compressed air (R. 338). It furnished barely enough compressed air to operate one drill. Nevertheless, before the end of February, defendant broke into the sizes specified in the contract all of the rock broken by the blast in the coyote hole and which was exposed in the quarry.

Sprague failed to remove the contract size rock from the quarry and about May 1 defendant ceased operations

in the quarry. In the latter part of July Sprague's surety made the April payment due under the subcontract and prevailed upon defendant to resume breaking rock.

On August 3, defendant sent its men and equipment back to the quarry to resume breaking rock. On August 1, plaintiffs started to haul away the rock that had been broken to contract size. Some of the oversize rock broken by the primary explosion was in the quarry, and defendant proceeded with the work of breaking it into contract size. It sent three jack hammers to the quarry to do the secondary breaking. However, only the Leroi 115 compressor was furnished to operate these jack hammers. It soon became necessary to do further primary breaking of rock, and much more compressed air was required than could be supplied by the Leroi compressor. In response to defendant's demand, the plaintiffs rented from Bergraph Brothers a 315 compressor which was delivered to the quarry about August 19. A compressor of this size was required to operate the drills to make the holes needed for the primary breaking of the rock. After the arrival of the Bergraph compressor, the breaking of the rock by the defendant proceeded at a very rapid pace. Defendant employed five men on two shifts. Three drills were kept in operation and during the next four or five weeks several thousand tons of rock were broken by the defendant into the sizes specified in the subcontract. This was hauled away by the plaintiffs without unreasonable delay. This stepped-up activity in the quarry was abruptly halted on the evening of September 21, when the bearings in the Bergraph compressor burned out (R. 365-6). Plaintiffs' superintendent was immediately

notified of the failure of the Bergraph compressor and he tried to locate another one because "I was aware of the fact that we must have another compressor. Now whether I started to locate one before he told me or after, but as soon as it broke down, as soon as I got to town, I started to locate another compressor" (R. 414). He returned the compressor to Bergraphs and requested that "they repair it immediately (R. 411). He kept pressing Bergraph Brothers "trying to expedite the repairing of it" (R. 412). He also contacted "every equipment house and contractor, or anybody who I thought might have a compressor or know of a compressor throughout the state and two surrounding states, trying to locate a compressor, and I sat on the phone for hours and hours and hours calling" (R. 412). During this period from September 21, until October 5, defendant's equipment and employees remained idle in the quarry. Defendant was required to pay one of its employees for full time during this period, while he sat in the quarry waiting for compressed air to operate the defendant's equipment. Several other employees were paid show-up time during this period and held themselves in readiness to return to the quarry. Defendant removed its equipment and employees from the quarry on October 5 (R. 372).

The failure of Sprague to remove the rock from the quarry concurrently with its being broken into contract size occurred prior to the time his surety induced the defendant to resume performance of the subcontract.

All of the rock broken by the initial blast and which was exposed in the quarry was rebroken to contract size by the defendant before the end of February. The precise

amount of rock thus broken may not be definitely established but the records maintained by the plaintiffs disclose that more than 1,000 tons of rock were broken into contract size in the quarry prior to February 23 (R. 360-1). None of this rock was removed from the quarry for a period of more than two months. About the last week in April, Sprague informed defendant that he would start removing this contract size rock from the quarry (R. 342). Defendant promptly sent one of its employees to the quarry to resume secondary breaking of rock. He remained at the quarry with his equipment waiting for Sprague to remove the rock. Sprague failed to remove any of the rock, and about May 1, defendant withdrew its employee and equipment from the quarry (R. 343).

Sprague kept a record of the date each ton of contract size rock was removed from the quarry. This record consisted of weigh tickets issued by an employee of the United States, who weighed the rock on scales just outside the quarry (Ex. 32). One copy of the weigh ticket was given to Sprague and one copy to the trucker who hauled the rock. The weigh tickets issued to Sprague and the copies issued to the truckers were introduced in evidence by the plaintiffs. Mrs. Sprague who kept the books for her husband summarized these weigh tickets in Exhibit 49. According to these records no contract size rock whatever was moved from the quarry until May 7, when a little more than 24 tons were hauled away. On May 15, 114 tons, on May 16, 194 tons, and on May 17, 248 tons of contract size rock were hauled away from the quarry. No contract size rock was removed from the quarry after May 17, until

August 1. On August 1, 198 tons and on August 2, 222 tons were removed (Ex. 32).

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