1955

Walter W. Sprague and United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company v. Boyles Bros. Drilling Company : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JUDGMENT APPEALED FROM IS PROPER AND THERE IS EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT IT.

The respondents have no quarrel with appellant's authorities cited under Point I of appellant's brief, but

respondents do not agree with the appellant's interpretation of the agreement between Sprague and Boyles (R. 8-10).

Appellant contends that it performed its part of the contract by putting in a coyote hole tunnel 75 feet into the face of the quarry and two wings at the end 30 feet on each side of the tunnel and setting off a large blast of powder and loosening the cliff of the quarry, knocking down into the quarry a large tonnage of oversize rock and then secondarily blasting the large rock on the surface of the pile and waiting until Sprague, with the shovel in the quarry, sorted rock which could be used and set aside or uncovered large rocks which could not be used when appellant would then secondarily blast the large rock to the specified size of 50 to 350 pounds. Respondents contend that such performance did not constitute the breaking of rock into sizes between 50 pounds and 350 pounds in a workmanlike manner without unreasonable delay.

Appellant contends that the evidence establishes that the only breach of the subcontract was that committed by the plaintiffs. This is not the fact.

Boyles started on the job in the quarry on December 18, 1949 (R. 287). The initial blast to produce rock was not set off until February 3, 1950. Eighty percent of the rock knocked down was oversize (R. 90). Sprague's difficulty on the job was his inability to get sufficient

rock of proper size to put on the dike in the revetment area (R. 98). Boyles had no equipment in the quarry to segregate the rock of proper size from that of improper size. They brought to the quarry in December, 1949, a Leyner, a bar, a water pump, the water tank, four pick-ups, and hoses and steel and bits (R. 333). A jackhammer was in the quarry after the blast from February 3 to February 11, 1950 (R. 339). When Lowery, an employee of Boyles, left the quarry on February 11, 1950, there were between 400 and 600 tons of rock of acceptable size visible in the quarry (R. 339). On April 24, 1950, when Lowery returned to the quarry, he brought to the quarry a light plant, hoses, connections, three jackhammers, and approximately two dozen pieces of steel (R. 341). While there, he shot 60 holes (R. 342). Boyles had no equipment to drag down rock from the sides of the quarry (R. 345). They had no caterpillar tractor in the quarry for the purpose of separating the large rock from the rock which had been reduced to size (R. 346). Nothing was done by Boyles to get the large rocks that were up on the side of the quarry down into the quarry and, from April 24 until May 1, 1950, the only rock which was reduced to size was that which was convenient to start hauling (R. 347).

Hauling of rock started in May, 1950, for only a few days and was discontinued when all the acceptable rock was taken from the quarry (R. 116).

After the May hauling, Sprague brought to the quarry a Traxcavator to sort the rock in the quarry (R. 117). Employees of Sprague attempted to break rock by plastering and shooting (R. 117). This was done by Sprague because sufficient rock was not available to keep the trucks operating (R. 118). These things were part of the breaking of the rock which should have been done by Boyles. Mrs. Fern Sprague, the wife of Walter Sprague, kept the records on the job (R. 135). She testified in detail concerning the expenses incurred by Sprague in the production of rock which was the obligation of Boyles. She made summaries of the various items of expense and fully explained all the facts and circumstances to the Court (R. 136-158).

The appellant complains of the failure of Sprague to make the progress payment provided in the subcontract of 75% of the contract price of 48c per ton by April 20, 1950. This payment was not made until July 26, 1950, and was paid by check from United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company (R. 211). The payment was 75% of 48c per ton for 12,200 tons of rock (R. 211). Mr. Murray calculated the payment as if the contract had been performed (R. 211). The respondent did not complain of the failure to make this payment on April 20, 1950 as provided in the contract. The only reasonable conclusion that can be reached is that, on that date, Boyles knew that not sufficient rock had been broken to justify the payment. It will be remembered that no rock was hauled from the quarry by April 20, 1950, the

first rock being hauled in May. Boyles did not quit the job because of the failure to make this progress payment. They stayed on the job until October 5, 1950, more than two months after receiving the payment.

There was some difficulty about compressed air. Appellant complains that their employees had to handle the compressor. Mr. Lowery, the man in charge of the breaking of rock in the quarry, testified that it would be foolish to have Sprague furnish a man to start the compressor, and put in gasoline and oil (R. 348). No request was made of Sprague to furnish a man to do those things (R. 348). On no occasion, when repairs to the compressor were needed, did Sprague refuse to take steps to have it repaired (R. 350).

On this subject of determining the materiality of a failure to perform, the following from Section 275, Restatement of the Law of Contracts, is enlightening:

“In determining the materiality of a failure fully to perform a promise the following circumstances are influential:

(a) The extent to which the injured party will obtain the substantial benefit which he could have reasonably anticipated;

(b) The extent to which the injured party may be adequately compensated in damages for lack of complete performance;

(c) The extent to which the party failing to perform has already partly performed or made preparations for performance;

(d) The greater or less hardship on the party failing to perform in terminating the contract;

(e) The wilful, negligent or innocent behavior of the party failing to perform;

(f) The greater or less uncertainty that the party failing to perform will perform the remainder of the contract.”

Under this section appears the following comment:

“a. It is impossible to lay down a rule that can be applied with mathematical exactness to answer the problem—when does a failure to perform a promise discharge the duty to perform the return promise for an agreed exchange. Only such general principles based on inherent justice of the matter as are stated in this Section can be asserted. Where the failure is at the outset, a very slight failure is often sufficient to discharge the injured party. But even in that case, and more obviously if the failure of a promisor occurs after part performance by him, the question becomes one of degree. Both the amount he has done and the benefit that the injured party has received are considered. The question then to be answered is: Will it be more conformable to justice in the particular case to free the injured party, or, on the other hand, to require him to perform his promise, in both cases giving him a right of action if the failure to perform was wrongful. In the one case damages are based on breach of the whole contract; in the other on the loss caused by the partial breach. While the wilfulness of the breach, except in contracts for personal service, may not enhance the injury, yet it does so far

increase the dement of the wrongdoer that the law is less inclined if a breach is wilfull to require the injured party to perform."

The trial Court found that Sprague performed his part of the contract and there is ample evidence in the record to sustain that finding.

POINT II

THERE IS EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT DEFENDANT DID NOT BREAK THE ROCK INTO CONTRACT SIZE IN A WORKMANLIKE MANNER.

Although appellant objected, and objection was sustained, to testimony offered to be given by two experts concerning the proper method to produce rock in this quarry (R. 164, 173 and 189), there is sufficient evidence from which the Court could find that the rock was not broken in a workmanlike manner.

After Boyles worked under the subcontract for more than five weeks, or until February 3, 1950, the initial blast was set off. A picture of the quarry after the blast was set off was introduced in evidence (R. 85, Ex. 25). This picture itself shows the condition of the rock. After this much valuable time had been consumed, rock could not be hauled to the project because of the large size of the rock and the fact that large and proper size rock were all mixed together in the pile. Eighty percent of the rock was oversize (R. 90). After this blast in the

quarry of February 3, 1950, a shovel could not start loading to haul rock out to the project in sizes called for by the contract specifications (R. 166 and 167).

No attempt is here made to detail all the evidence given at the trial on the manner in which the rock was broken. The record is full of similar testimony. There is ample evidence to support the finding of the Court that the appellant did not break the rock into contract size in a workmanlike manner.

Several places in appellant's brief statements are made that, after respondents started to break rock, they did so in the same manner as did the appellant. This is not true. Boyles put in a "coyote" hole in an attempt to produce the rock. When Sprague took over, he went up on top of the shelf above the quarry and used a wagon drill to drill holes down into the rock and then blasted using these holes (R. 133 and 250).

POINT III

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO PROVE THAT THE COST TO PLAINTIFF OF PRODUCING THE ADDITIONAL ROCK EXCEEDED WHAT HE AGREED TO PAY DEFENDANT.

The point raised by appellant applies only to the rock produced by respondents after appellant walked off the job in October, 1950.

The Court did, in its written memorandum, refer to the cost to Sprague of breaking of rock as 45.5 cents per ton, or a savings of 2.5 cents per ton under the contract price (R. 23).

It is evident, from an examination of the evidence, that, when the trial Judge in his memorandum, figured the cost of breaking rock by Sprague, he did not consider all of the expenses of Sprague in the production of the rock during the period after Boyles quit the job.

This Court's attention is called to Exhibits 7-P and 8-P introduced in evidence upon the testimony of Fern Sprague who kept the books and records for Sprague (R. 137 and 156). The original figures on the first page of Exhibit 8 were the actual cost to Sprague of producing rock after Boyles left the quarry. The total originally amounted to \$6,770.45. On the second page of Exhibit 8 originally appeared a credit for 1,000 tons of rock sold to Mathews at 48 cents per ton or \$480 and the original statement figures showed as the amount owed to Sprague by Boyles the sum of \$5,790.39. Mrs. Sprague explained that it cost Sprague considerably more than 48 cents per ton to produce the rock and that she revised the figures so as to give Boyles credit for the 1,000 tons of rock sold to Mathews at the cost of producing it, or \$1,185.23 (R. 138). The figures then on the first page of Exhibit 8

were all reduced in proportion and the total reduced from \$6,770.45 to \$5,585.22, which corrected figure was carried over onto the first page of Exhibit 7-P and the corrected figures on the various detailed items as corrected on page 1 of Exhibit 8-P to page 3 of Exhibit 7. All the items of expenses of producing rock after Boyles left the quarry were testified to by Mrs. Sprague and supported by documentary evidence.

It is apparent that Hon. Martin M. Larson left out some part of his calculations in the first paragraph of page 5 of his memorandum decision. Multiplying 5485 tons by 45.5 cents does not bring a result of \$4,495.55, nor does multiplying said 5485 tons by 48 cents bring a result of \$4,632.80.

Attention of this Court is called to the closing paragraph of Judge Larson's Memorandum which is as follows:

"Without setting forth herein the detailed working of in figures, and items, which we have done from three different approaches, and working in each detail of expense and deduction with the variation between largest and smallest, we find the plaintiff has been damaged in the sum of \$8,334.80 for which they are entitled to judgment against defendant, together with \$2,000 attorney's fees and costs." (R. 25)

This shows a detailed and careful consideration of the matter by the trier of the facts.

The appellant complains on page 30 of its brief about the sale of 1,000 tons of rock. The subcontract provided that, if the breaking of the rock into sizes therein provided for resulted in the production of rock of any size which is saleable, Sprague agreed to pay Boyles for all such rock at the rate of forty-eight cents per ton (R. 9, Par. 7). Sprague, in his account, gave Boyles credit for this rock which was sold to Mathews in the sum of \$1,185.23, which was credit at the cost of Sprague in producing the rock (R. 138). This rock, which was sold to Mathews, was in sizes of 1,000 pounds or over (R. 251). It was not rock which was acceptable to be used on the revetment (R. 252). Mathews gave credit to Sprague for this rock in the sum of \$1,000 on a bill for the rental of equipment (R. 251). Certainly appellant has no just complaint about this.

This Court's attention is called to the exhibits, which appellant refers to as packages and bundles on page 33 of its brief, and which were testified to by Mrs. Sprague (R. 141-148). The first so-called package or bundle was Exhibit 16-P and was identified by Mrs. Sprague as the weekly payroll records to support the items on Exhibit 7-P. These were the records from which she made a recap of the charges for labor used in production of rock which recap was designated as Exhibit 16 P-A (R. 146 and 147). Exhibits 16-P and 16 P-A were for the period prior to Boyles leaving the job. Exhibits 23-P and 23 P-A were the payroll records and recap by Mrs. Sprague of that part of the payroll which was

charged against appellant for the period after Boyles left the job, from September 30 to November 18, 1950 (R. 151 and 152). Respondents believe that these exhibits and others of similar character were proper exhibits and properly received in evidence.

POINT IV

THE COURT PROPERLY AWARDED THE PLAINTIFFS THE SUM OF \$823.15 FOR INCREASED COSTS OF LOADING AND HAULING THE ROCK.

There is ample evidence in the record to support this finding of damage to the respondents. This damage occurred prior to the time when Boyles left the quarry and was caused by the manner of the breaking of the rock and the oversize condition of the rock which made it necessary for Sprague to sort the rock, set aside the oversize rock, which of necessity cost him added expense for loading the trucks, and the truck drivers were delayed because of the lack of rock of available size to be loaded on the trucks and this made it necessary to pay the truckers an increased amount per ton for hauling the rock.

Mrs. Sprague prepared Exhibit 31-P. She prepared this from the records of Sprague. This exhibit shows the average cost to Sprague of loading when Boyles was producing rock as compared with the average cost to Sprague of loading when Sprague was producing rock

(R. 157). It cost Sprague 12.9 cents per ton more to load while Boyles was in the quarry producing rock. This item alone amounts to \$823.15 for 6381 tons broken by Boyles after the trouble with the truckers. There is ample evidence that there were delays caused by Boyles not having rock ready to be hauled (R. 111, 167, 168). In addition to this, because the truckers had to wait to be loaded when rock was not available and while the operator of the shovel was sorting rock, the price paid to the truckers was increased from 70 cents per ton to 80 cents per ton (R. 268).

POINT V

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN AWARDING PLAINTIFFS \$850 ON ACCOUNT OF SPRAGUE'S FAILURE TO COMPLETE HIS PRIME CONTRACT ON TIME.

There is no dispute on the law pertaining to the right of a contractor to abandon his contract under certain circumstances for failure to be paid for his work, as it progresses, as provided in the contract. However, in this case there is no evidence that appellant abandoned its contract because of the failure to pay. It is true that the payment of \$4,392.00 became due by the terms of the contract on April 20, 1950 and that it was not paid until July 26, 1950. Under the evidence and reasonable interpretation of the contract, there may be some question of the right to have and receive the payment on April 20, 1950, on which date much less than 12,200 tons of rock had been broken by appellant. The payment was

75% of the contract price for breaking 12,200 tons of rock. Since that amount of rock was not broken even on July 26, 1950, perhaps the payment made was premature. This, however, is beside the point because there is absolutely no evidence that there was an abandonment of the contract by appellant because of the late payment and appellant continued to work on the project for more than two months after the payment was received by it.

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